APPROVED

Minutes of the 392nd Meeting of the
Illinois Community College Board
Harry L. Crisp II Community College Center
401 East Capitol Avenue
Springfield, IL 62701

March 18, 2011

RECOMMENDED ACTION

It is recommended that the following motion be adopted:

The Illinois Community College Board hereby approves the Board minutes of the March 18, 2011, meeting as recorded.

Item #1 - Roll Call and Declaration of Quorum

Chairman Alongi called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. and Allison Ray called roll with the following members present: Guy Alongi, Randy Barnette, James Dumas, Victor Henderson, Rudolph Papa, Thomas Pulver, Jake Rendleman, and Austin Ashby, Student member. The following Board members were absent: Suzanne Morris and Judith Rake. Ms. Ray declared the Board had a quorum.

Item #3 - Board Member Comments

Jake Rendleman had no comment at this time.

Randy Barnette noted that during the challenging times we are in, it is important to look at the financial things we have a tendency to go against each other and be negative. This past weekend Mr. Barnette was with the presidents and trustees in Schaumburg and they seem to be in a real cooperative spirit. Mr. Barnette feels this is important at this time when things are troubled across the street, that we work together with our brothers and sisters in the Presidents' Council and the trustees. It is good to keep in mind as we go through this session.

Austin Ashby stated it was nice to see everyone again and to be back in Springfield.

James Dumas had no comment at this time.

Victor Henderson stated he has been on the Board for about a year now and he tries to sit back and learn and listen. During this time he has been extraordinarily impressed by Guy's leadership, by Geoffrey's leadership as well as what he has seen of the staff. He hopes to continue to learn, but he has been extraordinarily impressed by what he has seen and is very pleased to have the opportunity to serve.

Tom Pulver echoed what Mr. Henderson did say, he is very pleased with the leadership right now, he respects the staff. Mr. Barnette is correct that we are in challenging times right now and we have an incredibly dedicated staff. He hopes for continued stability in our organization through all the challenges that we are facing to keep this the excellent community college system that it is.

Rudy Papa stated it was a pleasure to serve on the Board and added to Mr. Pulver's sentiments about the administration. Everyone is doing a fine job for the students of the community colleges.

Item #2 - Announcements and Remarks by Guy H. Alongi, Chairman

Chairman Alongi indicated that some Board members have mentioned that may be it is time to not hold all Board meetings in Springfield and maybe we need to start reaching out to the community colleges and have a couple of meetings at our community college campuses every year. Planning for the next calendar of Board meetings will start soon and Chairman Alongi presented the following proposal to the Board:

Two Board meetings a year will be held away from Springfield and on a community college campus. These meetings will be held on a Thursday afternoon from 12:00 p.m.-3:00 p.m., with committee meetings following and the following day, Friday, the meeting will be held from 9:00 a.m.-12:00 p.m. The session on Thursday would be a working session for the purpose of ICCB staff to make presentations versus presentations conducted during the Board meetings. The March and September Board meetings will be held at a community college campus, the January and November meetings will be held in Springfield from 11:00 a.m.-2:00 p.m., and the June meeting will be held in conjunction with the Illinois Community College Trustees Association.

Rudy Papa moved to accept the motion.

Randy Barnette asked if there would be only two meetings that would have committee meetings the day before the Board meeting.

Chairman Alongi confirmed and stated the reason he staggered it by about six to seven months was so that there will not be presentations back-to-back. Also, if there is action as a result of the a presentation(s) it can be acted upon at the Board meeting the next day. The meetings held in Springfield and the one meeting held in conjunction with ICCTA will be strictly a Board meeting with no presentations.

Mr. Barnette asked if he could make a friendly amendment.

Tom Pulver seconded the motion.

Mr. Barnette amended to add the following: Board members to have the opportunity, if they so desire, to suggest items to be added to a Board meeting's agenda and the Board chair will grant final approval for an item to be added to the agenda.

Chairman Alongi asked for any further questions.

There were no further questions.

Chairman Alongi requested a voice vote for approval.

Motion carried via unanimous voice vote. Student member vote: Yes.

Item #15 – Public Comment

Doris Woolery, from Grow Your Own Teachers (GYO), is a statewide, grant funded organization which takes people from communities and enrolls them to become teachers in their communities. GYO aims to serve the underserved populations throughout the state. Ms. Woolery was asked by one of GYO consortium members, Madeline Talbot from the Coalition of Effective Teachers to address the Board about the Illinois Basic Skills Test. Ms. Woolery stated she had

reviewed the minutes of the last Board meeting and according to the Illinois State Board of Education (ISBE) all was going well with the test, but GYO does not feel the same way. Information about GYP was distributed to the Board members and Ms. Woolery briefly explained the GYO program. Ms. Woolery stated that before the Basic Skills Test change there was only about a 23-30 percent pass rate and now it is down to about 22 percent. It was predicted that the pass scores would go up once the change was done to the pass scores, but it did not. Now, only 78 percent of the people that take the test pass it. Colleges of education are now beginning to wonder if they are going to have enough to meet their quota. Ms. Woolery has talked with Benedictine and University of Illinois-Springfield (UIS) who serve the teacher education programs for GYO in Springfield, and both colleges of educations scores are down. The problem with this is, are we going to have enough teachers who are qualified to go back in and teach because of the high test rate on this test. The scores they gave us were not even the scores that had been suggested by the team of educators that they have around the state for the test. This is effecting us, only 22 percent passing is not good for colleges of education nor for the GYO program. Ms. Woolery introduced a GYO candidate, Kevin Ford, who has taken the Basic Skills Test the old way as well as the new test. Ms. Woolery stated she knew the test scores cannot be changed, but what she proposed was for ISBE to institute a freeze and reset it to the old scores for awhile, until we can come to some reasonable solution to this. Passing that test has no effect on teacher effectiveness, has no effect on whether or not those teachers stay in the classroom to help those students in the future. Ann Hallett, Director for GYO and Madeline Talbott, representative for the Coalition of Effective Teachers are more than willing to speak with anyone from the ICCB or anyone else that is interested in the statistics GYO has found.

Chairman Alongi thanked Ms. Woolery and stated that at a Board meeting a couple of months ago the Board instructed ICCB staff to go back to ISBE to see if people that were already in the system could be held to the old test scores. Another option discussed was for a refresher course be conducted for students prior to taking the Basic Skills Test. Ms. Woolery has support from the ICCB, but the problem lies with ISBE. Chairman Alongi asked Dr. Elaine Johnson, Vice President for Academic Affairs and Workforce Development to confirm that ISBE had nothing to do with the ICCB proposal.

Dr. Johnson stated that ICCB did go back and talk with Superintendent Koch and expressed the Board's concerns and the issues we were facing with our students. At that time, Superintendent Koch stated ISBE was going forward with the new scores they had and they were also doing some analysis on what was really happening. Dr. Johnson stated she would be more than happy to follow-up with Ms. Woolery or come back to the Board at the next meeting.

Chairman Alongi stated he felt those students already in the system are at a severe disadvantage with the new testing system. Those that are coming in to the system are different, but there needs to be some kind of catch-all for those students in the system right now.

Kevin Ford, a GYO candidate in his third year at UIS in pursuit of a mathematics degree spoke briefly about his past work history. Mr. Ford also stated he faced some challenges taking the Basic Skills Test, he has taken the test twice, once under the old scoring system and now under the new system. Mr. Ford is not opposed to taking tests, unfortunately, looking at the test and the way they are doing it now, it seems to be adding some additional burden. Particularly for Mr. Ford, he is trying to enter the TEP program to teach math at Washington Middle School in Springfield. The second time Mr. Ford took the test he completed two sections of the test with a score of 240 or greater and he thinks it should qualify him for the TEP program, at least for a probationary basis. Right now Mr. Ford is delayed and will not be able to get into the TEP program until he has successfully completed the test. This creates further delays and his

intentions of getting into a classroom by 2013 are hampered by the fact that he has to successfully complete the test in its entirety under the new rules. If ISBE is not going to move the scores back, perhaps they could change the acceptance policies into the TEP programs.

Chairman Alongi thanked Mr. Ford for his comments, reiterated that he has the full support of the Board with trying to change the testing mechanism, and encouraged Mr. Ford to concentrate efforts on ISBE.

Dr. Johnson stated that Supreintendent Koch would be more than happy to come and address the Board if there were any questions related to the Basic Skills Test.

Chairman Alongi asked that Superintendent Koch be placed on the June Board meeting agenda in Bloomington.

Item #4 - President and CEO Report

Geoffrey Obrzut acknowledged the third floor of the building was complete and occupied mostly by the staff that were at Lincoln Land Community College. Thanks were granted upon the ICCB staff for being patient during the construction. Mr. Obrzut also thanked Ray Hancock, President for the Illinois Community College System Foundation and the Foundation board for their pursuit in the building project. A building dedication will be held on May 4 at 1:00 p.m., which coincides with Lobby Day for the Illinois community college system and Mr. Hancock would like the Board to attend. Mr. Hancock is also still looking for a tenant for the fourth floor of the building.

Mr. Obrzut and Ellen Andres, Chief Financial Officer will testify before the House Appropriation Committee on March 29 and the Senate Appropriation hearing is scheduled for April 7.

Labor negotiations with the IFT/AFT AFL/CIO Local will begin soon.

ICCB in partnership with the Illinois Board of Higher Education (IBHE) will host eight regional workshops focusing upon the common core college and career readiness standards and alignment of curriculum.

The Board members were reminded about several items including:

- Statement of Economic Interests will arrive soon and is due by May 2, 2011.
- The next issue of the ICCB magazine will be sent out next week and will feature Jake Rendleman
- The Phi Theta Kappa banquet will be held April 13 at the Abraham Lincoln Hotel in Springfield.
- Mr. Obrzut was recently featured by Triton College as a Distinguished Alumni.

Item #5.1 - Student Advisory Committee and Item #9.3 - Student Relations

Austin Ashby reported the last meeting for SAC was last weekend in Schaumburg and this was the last meeting for the students. Ellen Andres, Chief Financial Officer spoke about the upcoming budget and Senator Maloney spoke to the students about Student Advocacy Day.

All subcommittees provided reports as well:

- Student Outreach has raised over \$5,000 to go towards the 9/11 Memorial Project in New York City. The students are now hoping to raise \$10,000 for that project.
- Local Issues has developed and finalized a list to distribute to all student trustees on how to increase student involvement on campuses throughout the state. The committee also came up with a list of discussion points for Blake Lee, student trustee for Lake Land College, as well as a veteran, to participate in the White House Summit on Community Colleges that was sponsored by United States Vice-President Joe Biden's wife and community college professor Jill Biden.
- The Legislative Committee put together the final details of the Advocacy Day, which will be held April 14.
- The Awards Committee held a banquet to celebrate the last meeting and Mandy Little from John A. Logan College was named the outstanding student for SAC this year. The new ICCB Student Board member is Edgar Moldanado from College of Lake County.

Upcoming events for the students include the Phi Theta Kappa banquet on April 13 at the President Abraham Lincoln Hotel in Springfield, 81 students and 11 Coca-Cola scholarship winners are registered to attend. Student Advocacy Day is April 14 and the theme for this year is "Helping Students Run the Distance." The students will meet with legislators and Lieutenant Governor Sheila Simon that day as well. The Student Leadership Institute will be held June 3-4 at the Bloomington-Normal Marriott Hotel and Conference Center. The Community College Survey of Student Engagement will hold a statewide workshop on May 4 in Springfield.

Item #5.2 - Illinois Community College System Foundation

The ICCSF was not able to provide a report at this time.

Item #5.3 – Illinois Community College Faculty Association

Dr. Linda Hefferin announced the ICCFA welcomed D.K. Herner from Lieutenant Governor Sheila Simon's office at the January meeting. Items discussed included dual credit, college readiness, performance based funding, articulation, and pension reform. Dr. Elaine Johnson also attended the meeting and provided Ms. Herner with information about the ICCB. The ICCFA also extended an invitation to Lieutenant Governor Simon to attend the ICCFA Conference to be held on October 21-22 at the Crowne Plaza in Springfield.

Information about faculty grants has been posted on the ICCFA website, there will be five grants in the amount of \$2,500 each. All Illinois community college faculty are eligible to apply and the winners of these grants will be announced by May 2011. There will also be six \$1,000 grants available for students and that information has been posted as well.

ICCFA did contribute for the Phi Theta Kappa banquet and a representative from ICCFA will attend the banquet. The ICCFA also contributed \$1,000 towards the paver project for the Student Advisory Committee.

The next meeting of the ICCFA will be later today at the newly remodeled ICCB offices.

Chairman Alongi asked Dr. Hefferin about the dues for ICCFA.

Dr. Hefferin replied that the statements had been sent out and there have been a couple of questions which Dr. Johnson's staff has handled. Currently, none is paid, but by the next meeting some will be received.

Item #5.4 - Presidents' Council

Dr. Jerry Weber reported that SB59 – the transfer bill – passed out of committee this week. The presidents have been working on this bill since last fall and explained the difference between the transfer of general education courses versus the transfer of students into a specific major. Usually the transfer into a major works fine, but occasionally there are glitches within certain universities in specific departments when that department does not want to go along with the agreement that the institution has made. The community college presidents have spoken with the university presidents and they have agreed to back this bill. Regardless of this, the presidents feel that having this legislation in place allows them to say, "Look, if you can fix this fine and if you cannot, we need to go forward with something." The presidents want to make ICCB aware that they are not wildly looking at this and they are interested in some of the ICCB and IBHE staff work on this to get this resolved. Dr. Weber will ask the other presidents for their input on this at the next Presidents' Council meeting on May 3.

Presidents' Council passed a resolution in favor of the concept of performance-based funding with the understanding that the IBHE will collaborate with the community colleges to develop a system that properly administers measurements.

Another item of importance for the presidents is the funding formula, which Dr. Weber acknowledged Ellen Andres would probably discuss later. Dr. Weber stated he felt that Ms. Andres was on board with what the presidents felt about the formula. It is not the colleges' or the Board's fault and if the formula was fully funded it would work correctly, and that is what is happening with the different credit hour grants. It seems best to take legislative action to freeze the funding formula.

The Presidents' Council marketing and public relations committee has proposed to Presidents' Council, with the cooperation of the ICCB and ICCTA also, to create a system to take the colleges throughout the state and assist students in finding community colleges throughout the state. The Presidents' Council is going to explore the cost of such an endeavor.

Mr. Obrzut voiced that the ICCB changed its website 3-4 years ago and it may be time to do that again.

Dr. Weber stated he felt our website needed to stay as is and this would create something more like College Zone and would be a student portal.

Dr. Weber has met and is impressed with Dr. George Reid from the IBHE.

Dr. Weber thanked Mike Monaghan from ICCTA for getting the presidents involved with the State Universities Retirement System (SURS) pension situation, because it affects all community colleges.

The Illinois Green Economy Network (IGEN) is looking for a new executive director.

Item #5.5 - Adult Education and Family Literacy Advisory Council

Peggy Heinrich reported that in April 2009, the ICCB with the help of a strategic planning task force, created a visioning document wherein adult education learners no longer prepare for a GED and then stop. It was a vision where ESL students focus on more than basic survival skills; it's a vision where adult education students acquire basic skills while they prepare for employment and further college studies, and there is an emphasis on preparing for middle skill jobs. Now the job of the ICCB Adult Education and Family Literacy Advisory Council is to help make that vision a reality. The council has three committees: 1) curriculum and instruction, which looks at evidence-based reading instruction and will recommend skills that should become part of the curriculum; 2) data, research, and accountability, to look at return on investment models and identify components that will benefit Illinois; and 3) assessment committee, which evaluates different tests and assessment instruments in order to recommend different or additional tests for Illinois.

In practice, it means that programs around the state are changing the face of adult education step-by-step. Programs are looking at ways for students to begin receiving college credit while still attending adult education classes; programs are looking at ways for students to participate in a career or technical program while receiving second language instruction. Programs are also looking at ways to move students seamlessly from GED classes to college coursework without being placed into developmental education. There is a lot of work to do yet, but Illinois is taking the lead in the nation in the face of changing adult education.

Item #5.6 - Illinois Community College Trustees Association

Mike Monaghan reported on some of the activities that took place at the latest ICCTA meeting held in Schaumburg. Time was spent with the Executive Director of the State Universities Retirement System (SURS) to discuss the various changes that are taking place with the state retirement systems. Mr. Monaghan thanked Dr. Jerry Weber for conducting an informative program on the Illinois Green Economic Network (IGEN) at the meeting as well. During the ICCTA board meeting the main issues discussed included federal and state legislation.

Upcoming events that individuals from ICCTA will participate in include: a Reinvention meeting at the City Colleges of Chicago, hosted by Chancellor Cheryl Hyman; a listening tour being held at Triton College and throughout the country by Walter Bumphus, new president for American Association of Community Colleges (AACC); and a meeting the Department of Education is holding at Ivy Tech in Indianapolis.

Complicated legislative issues the ICCTA is working on include the College Insurance Program (CIP) which is experiencing problems due to a number of factors and there are some proposals for SURS which call for a shift from the state to employers (the colleges) for employee contributions, with a total possible impact of that shift exceeding the amount the ICCB appropriates to the colleges.

The next meeting of the ICCTA will be May 4 for Lobby Day in Springfield. Another event that may be held that day includes the dedication of the newly completed third and fourth floors of the Harry L. Crisp II Community College Center. The ICCTA annual state convention and meeting will be held June 3-4 at the Marriott Bloomington-Normal Hotel and Conference Center.

Discussion took place regarding the CIP and the possibility of making the program selfinsured. Chairman Alongi explained how the housing authority took similar action with

its insurance program and perhaps something could be done for the colleges to run their own insurance program and by-pass the involvement of the state. It has the potential to be much more efficient and save the colleges a lot of money.

Item #6 - Illinois Articulation Initiation

Dr. Elaine Johnson said she wanted to take the opportunity to inform the Board on recent activity with the Illinois Articulation Initiative (IAI) and that the ICCB staff is committed to ensuring that transfer works in the state of Illinois. Dr. Johnson gave a brief history of IAI, including some of the problems encountered.

Brian Durham, Senior Director for Academic Affairs and Career and Technical Education, commented on the progress to date of the Illinois Articulation Initiative (IAI). The presentation began by discussing the many ways in which students transfer¹ pointing out that IAI is designed specifically for students who do not know their intended transfer institution. After discussing the number of transfer students (35,174), faculty participants (350), participating institutions (110), and total courses approved (23,000), the presenters discussed the five General Education Core Curriculum (GECC) panels² and the 18 majors panels.³ After indicating that the GECC is working well,⁴ they discussed that most of the innovations occurring now in IAI are occurring in the Major panels.

Major panels were formed to develop a recommendation of one to four freshman/sophomore level courses for prospective transfer students who have decided on a major, but not a transfer institution⁵. Recently, the Illinois Board of Higher Education (IBHE) and the ICCB have been working to formalize the Major Panel Recommendations and have divided this work into three tiers: Tier 1) Business, Chemistry, English, History, Political Science, and Sociology; Tier 2) Agriculture, Criminal Justice, Computer Science, Engineering, and Physics. The Tier 1 process began with the distribution of a memo to the IBHE Academic Leadership on February 4 and was finalized on January 6. The two staffs are currently working on Tier 2 majors. The memo was distributed on April 1 and the expectation is that the work will be complete by the next (June) ICCB Board meeting. Tier 3 activity, including a focus on the remaining majors, will occur during the fall of 2011. There are several principles that guide the initiative:

- Community Colleges and Public Universities are equal partners in the delivery of the first two years of post-secondary education and should work to make student transition as effective as possible.
- ▶ Recognition that <u>undecided students face more challenges</u> and require additional guidance and clarity.
- **Existing transfer agreements** are still the primary path for students once they know their intended destination.
- Major process is iterative and faculty must remain up-to-date on disciplinary changes and continuously revise their courses based upon these changes.

¹ The types of transfer include: a) From community college to baccalaureate institution; b) From community college to community college; c) From university to university; d) From baccalaureate institution to community college (Reverse Transfer) and the various types of students

² Communications; Humanities and Fine Arts; Mathematics; Physical and Life Sciences; Social and Behavioral Sciences

³ Agriculture; Art; Biology; Business; Chemistry; Computer Science; Criminal Justice; Engineering; English; History; Industrial Technology; Mass Communications; Mathematics; Physics; Political Science; Psychology; Sociology; Theater Arts

⁴ The GECC includes 37-41 hours transferred as a package and consists of courses from Communications, Math, Physical & Life Sciences, Humanities/Fine Arts, and Social & Behavioral Sciences

⁵ To see the major course recommendations go to: http://www.itransfer.org/iai/majors/default.aspx?file=iai§ion=students

Transfer pathways using the major recommendation should **NOT lengthen the time to degree for students**.

The presentation concluded with a discussion of the www.itransfer.org website that was created to get information from the panels into the hands of students, parents, advisors, and other users of the site and receives on average 12,334 hits per day. On the website, the agencies have posted a complaint link that allows for the gathering of data on transfer complaints across the system. Students as well as other individuals, such as advisors, parents, transfer coordinators, and faculty, can now submit questions or report problems related to transfer between Illinois institutions. Both the sending and receiving institutional contacts, as well as key Board and IAI support staff, automatically receive submissions via email.

Following is the discussion that took place regarding questions and concerns about IAI.

Chairman Alongi asked where the breakdown occurs in the case of a student taking a 200 level course at a community college that articulates to a university, but then the student may have to retake the 200 level course at the university as an elective, not as part of the core curriculum.

Dr. Johnson stated that it depends. The 200 level course will transfer if it is part of the GECC or if it is part of the package for the university they are going to attend. The group of students caught in the mix are those that do not know their major or where they are transferring. Dr. Johnson gave examples of such situations that may occur.

Chairman Alongi asked if it was poor planning on the students' part or was it the result of the community colleges and the universities not coming together with enough information and educating the students well enough to know where to find the articulation paths.

Dr. Johnson felt that all of those factors are involved. There are clear, good paths when the students look at community colleges that have the defined paths, but ICCB could and should do a better job of making the courses accepted, no questions asked. It would make the process easier, but we are not there yet, and we are working on making it easier.

Mr. Durham noted that those institutions that do not accept courses are being approached and their current agreements are being examined. Therefore, if found that an institution will not accept a specific course, yet have 32 agreements with other community colleges for other courses, the ICCB is trying to find out why they will not accept that course, but will the other 32 approved courses.

Victor Henderson asked what the time frame was to have the process completed.

Dr. Johnson replied that they will be done with Tier 3 acceptance in the beginning of the fall semester.

Mr. Henderson asked for clarification and restated that Dr. Johnson said that in August or September the process will be done.

Dr. Johnson confirmed that Tier 2 will be completed by that point, and Tier 3 will be worked on during the fall semester. Dr. Johnson stated that she does not think that the faculty can be convened over the summer. The universities will have to sign off on Tier 3 during the fall semester. She also explained that by the end of this semester (spring), ICCB will know what is being done with Tier 2 colleges on whether or not they are participating. When this process was set up, Tier 1 colleges were the determined to be the easiest and Tier 2 were a little more difficult.

Mr. Henderson asked Dr. Johnson if the earliest Tier 3 will be complete will be January of next year.

Dr. Johnson said she would be complete with Tier 3 by October or November. They may try to speed it up a little. If the faculty come in and go through the process, it will probably be in the middle of the semester.

Mr. Henderson questioned if the middle of the semester would help those students already enrolled. For students specifically, he questioned if the agreements would not be effective until January.

Dr. Johnson confirmed that Mr. Henderson was correct.

Mr. Durham acknowledged that they are not working from a clean slate either, so those agreements and recommendations already there will still be in place.

Chairman Alongi asked what defines a Tier 1, 2, and 3.

Dr. Johnson explained that is ICCB's definition because they had to take majors and break them down because they could not be done at the same time.

Rudolph Papa asked if they have to go to each university to do this.

Dr. Johnson confirmed they do go to all of the universities. There is an academic leadership team with the IBHE, which includes provosts from the colleges' academic affairs. They meet and the major courses go to them and it is then their responsibility to take it to the divisions and faculty, who in turn return with an answer to IBHE.

Randy Barnette asked how long IAI has been in existence.

Mr. Durham replied it started about 1992.

Mr. Barnette stated it has been going on for 20 years and now it may be finished in November.

Dr. Johnson clarified that they are finishing the problems with the major panels in October. Five years ago, the recommendations from an evaluation team was to do away with IAI majors and deal with articulation from college to college. At the time, the ICCB felt that was not the right decision. During the process, ICCB found this cannot be done without the partnership of the IBHE and working with university faculty. There has been a lot of turnover at IBHE, but in the last couple of years with their academic leadership, IBHE was able to agree upon this and reach out to the universities.

Mr. Durham noted he felt all of it begs for an evaluation as well. It is a continuous process and it certainly will not be finished, but there is also a five-year review process for all of the courses. One of the reasons we cannot do 18 at a time is that the faculty panels are also reviewing multiple course standards, which is very demanding on faculty time.

Dr. Linda Hefferin stated that one other consideration is that the community colleges have to submit course outline and syllabi in order to be approved by the universities. Therefore, the colleges must have the requirements that are set by the universities. She stated other factors included are that not every community college decides to align their curriculum according to what a universities specifies, and not all community colleges submit their courses to be considered for articulation.

Mr. Durham stated that for IAI, all colleges and universities (public and private) submit their courses to the panel. There is wide participation across the system.

Dr. Johnson stated they remain committed and continue to note there is a problem with the major panels, and she wants to let the Board know what has been done and where we have been.

Mr. Barnette noted that he, most of the Board members here, the college presidents, and the trustees have been hearing horror stories about transfer for a number of years and that is one of the reasons that the presidents and trustees have put together legislation. Mr. Barnette asked Dr. Johnson if she felt the legislation was not appropriate.

Dr. Johnson did not know if she could answer that.

Mr. Barnette asked that if this is going to be done in October if it would be premature on their part to do that.

Dr. Johnson stated she did not feel it was premature on their part because she understands their complaints and issues because they are concerned about articulation the same way we are concerned about articulation. But, they are doing it from a different point because they are seeing it from the system and she is only seeing it as what the Board has done by asking our partners to come to the table and to participate. So, Dr. Johnson fully supports and understands what the presidents are asking for because she understands their frustration and actually they are probably more frustrated with the boards for not doing something about it already or the process that took place with the steering committee. They are valid in trying to protect students, we are also trying to protect students as well. The only difference is they have not been charged with the task of facilitating this process as she has. Dr Johnson said she convened a meeting with Dr. Jerry Weber and several others to sit down with the university presidents and say, 'Here are the issues, we have problems.' They explained it to the university presidents and they are fully committed to working with the community colleges on this. The response was that the universities have been saying this for years. The universities response was that they are a group of new presidents, and let them us come to the table and talk to you.

Dr. Johnson stated it is difficult for her to be in this position. Her name is all over the documents and the Board has told her to move forward with articulation. The latest legislation that Dr. Johnson has seen does reflect this same process and would allow us to continue, but again, she stated we are just in different camps. Dr. Johnson stated she is not going to speak on where we are with the Board, until the Board tells her how to speak. Dr. Johnson said her role as Chief Academic Officer of the State is to tell you what we have done, and what the system has been doing.

Dr. Weber spoke briefly that the presidents have two mindsets on the issue. Many feel having the legislation out there puts pressure on the whole system to move forward now. There are also some presidents that feel that maybe the legislation should just be in place so that as people change over time, articulation can stay in place. Overall, Dr. Weber thinks that most people want the process to go through and work.

Chairman Alongi briefly reflected on a previous Board meeting when he stated that if the community colleges and universities cannot come together and work this situation out, then maybe we (the Board) need to legislate it. Chairman Alongi supports what Dr. Weber is doing because we have to look out for the community college system, but he sometimes wonders if SB59 is putting the cart before the horse because we have directed ICCB staff to go through a certain process and then the presidents have come through the back door with the legislation. This has put us in a spot of whether we need to support the legislation or not. Personally,

Chairman Alongi wants to stay neutral on the legislation for the fact that direction was given to staff. He is not against the legislation, but he is also not for it. Chairman Alongi said he does not know how the rest of the Board feels about the legislation. Chairman Alongi stated that he spoke with Senator Maloney about the bill and the bill originated in his committee. Chairman Alongi's gut feeling from this conversation is that he does not feel that Senator Silverstein will call the bill. If it is called, the bill may not gain legs in the Senate and it probably will not have legs in the House. Chairman Alongi will allow the Board to do what it wants to do. He said he will not stop any Board member from doing anything with the bill, but he does not want Dr. Johnson put into a box. Speaking personally and not as Chairman, he is neutral on the bill. However, he does think that the university presidents have considered this to be adversary and if it would gain legs in the Senate, there will be an outpouring of university presidents coming forward to try and defeat the bill. It puts us at odds with the universities. Chairman Alongi said we are at odds enough with the universities and the community colleges on other issues. At some point in time, he believes we all have to be players and buy into a system because we gave staff the direction to go through this process. If the universities do not want to be players, then Dr. Johnson should come back to the Board, and then the Board needs to take a firm stand to stick behind the students and the articulation agreements.

Tom Pulver asked to examine the student complaint data. He felt it would be useful to see hard documentation on the issues. To date, Mr. Pulver has not seen any documentation proving that it has failed and perhaps the academic affairs committee, or whoever, can take a look at that information before the Board takes a position.

Mr. Henderson asked Dr. Johnson for clarification from earlier in the meeting. Is she requesting through the end of December to complete the entire process. He stated that it seems that a lot of progress has been made, but Tier 3 has not been reached. Is she saying that time is needed through October, November or December to see if articulation is successful and complete.

Dr. Johnson clarified that if there is not agreement with tier 2 and therefore that is not enough to say the process is not working. If tier 2 does not work, and she expects that to be known by the end of May because everything will be accumulated from IBHE on the agreements and non-agreements, then information will be gathered before the next Board meeting.

Mr. Henderson stated that at the end of 60 days Dr. Johnson will give a recommendation if the process is working or not.

Dr. Johnson confirmed.

Chairman Alongi informed Dr. Weber that if the Board cannot work through Tier 2, then he is on Board with the presidents.

Rudolph Papa stated that the bottom line is that the Board wants to ease the cost of education for our students.

Mr. Barnette asked if Chairman Alongi would be happy with June 30 being the deadline to make the evaluation on whether or not this process is working.

Dr. Johnson stated that by the next Board meeting, the ICCB staff will know what is happening with Tier 2.

A consensus was reached and clarified by the Board members that Dr. Johnson would report to the Board on the status of articulation on or before June 30, 2011.

Item #7 - Economic Impact Study Report

Dr. Karen Hunter Anderson updated the Board on working with the Northern Illinois University (NIU) Center for Governmental Studies to produce a new economic impact study for Illinois community colleges. ICCB staff have been working with NIU to develop a process to produce a new report. The next step is to pull together a group of interested parties, which would include representation from the Illinois Community College Trustees Association (ICCTA), to discuss content and public relations of the report. Some items that will distinguish it from the last report include changing demographics and dramatic enrollment increases.

Randy Barnette commented that timing is everything in terms of putting together the study and that he would like to help facilitate the parties development of a questionnaire and the financing to move forward with the study. Also, last time this was done, the presidents and trustees were involved and the trustees were used as a pass-through and each of the colleges contributed funds to obtain their own individual reports. The problem now is that the Board cannot accept money from the colleges to develop the study and that is why we must utilize the ICCTA. What role will ICCB play, besides being supportive of the study?

Dr. Anderson replied that the ICCB provides the data to NIU and interfaces with the colleges in terms of the use and reproduction of the data.

Mr. Barnette noted that the last time this was done the public relations and marketing people from the colleges were involved in order to articulate the study. That seemed to be a really good selling point, and the trustees helped organize that as well. Mr. Barnette would like to move forward as soon as possible, and Dr. Anderson agreed.

Item #8 - Data Security Update

Dr. Karen Hunter Anderson provided a brief review on a data security breach that happened almost a year ago involving ICCB data. Since then, ICCB has worked with both universities involved, and one university has been more responsive than the other. There is some resolution to the problem; however, we do not have verification that the data has been destroyed and the committee had recommended that we seek verification of that. Dr. Anderson will work with staff at ICCB to verify the data have been destroyed.

Randy Barnette asked how that would happen.

Dr. Anderson replied that there are standard procedures which have already been suggested and is typically through a certified document from the institution stating the data were destroyed on a certain date using a certain procedure. It is a legal document. The documentation is typical in most data-sharing agreements, including the data-sharing agreements we currently use with other universities and other entities, including other state agencies.

Chairman Alongi noted that in the past there has been discussion about a possibility to copyright the ICCB data; is that or would that be something we could explore?

Dr. Anderson stated the ICCB has looked into it and she does not have an answer today, but the agency has worked with yet another university who is looking into copyrighting their data and we have been referred to legal counsel that specializes in that area.

Mr. Barnette noted that the Board has to rely on Dr. Anderson to inform them if the data is safe and that our data is not being misused.

Dr. Anderson cautioned that one of the issues is that this has been a lesson learned. The agreement for shared data that was the subject of the security breach had been done years ago. A lot has been learned since then, and with the advent of electronic sharing, there are new complications, so it is even more essential that we protect our data. The state, as well as all entities, have been key to security issues, and as a Board, we approved a procedural document to ensure the safety of social security numbers. This is something that is becoming more of an issue and it is also easier to have security breaches due to the easy transfer of data via zip drives and other ways as well. The first lawsuit regarding a security breach at a university just took place this year, and we will probably start to see more lawsuits. Therefore, it is even more inherent to take every step possible to ensure the safety of our student data.

Item #9 - Committee Reports

Item #9.1 - Fiscal and Personnel

Tom Pulver reported that the committee voted for Suzanne Morris to be the committee's chair and asked Ellen Andres to provide the remainder of the update.

Ms. Andres distributed a handout detailing the Fiscal Year 2011 credit hour rates by category. This handout was referred to in an explanation of how the rates are calculated every year for the base operating formula. In order to calculate credit hour rates, the unit cost is submitted to the ICCB by each community college. The statewide cost is divided into the six different funding categories, and then the formula requires that tuition, fees, and local tax revenues be subtracted out. The state is responsible for paying the remainder. For Fiscal Year 2011, the credit hour rate for baccalaureate credit hours should have been \$31.55, but due to the lack of state appropriations, what was actually paid by the state was \$13.13. Full funding would have required \$119 million extra applied to the original appropriation.

For Fiscal Year 2012, tuition and fees have increased an average of \$10.00 and local tax revenues are level. Both of these adversely affect how much the state will reimburse the colleges per credit hour. These factors, coupled with level or decreased State funding requires the ICCB to distribute less money per credit hours than in previous years. Another problem with the formula is that we are funding over about 700,000 additional credit hours. Immediate effects of this, is that remedial courses will only be a few dollars per credit hour. It may get to the point where the community colleges are not going to be paid by the state to offer remedial courses because of the formula during this time of increasing enrollments and little funding from the state. It also forces baccalaureate courses to about \$7.00-\$8.00 per credit hour.

Recently, a group of chief financial officers, presidents, and Mike Monaghan from the ICCTA met to look at the situation for Fiscal Year 2012. The ICCB cannot assume that there will be an increase in the budget since Governor Quinn's proposed budget is at level-funding and the House is projecting much lower revenues. I am suggesting to propose to the General Assembly (GA) and the Governor's Office of Management and Budget (GOMB) to suspend the formula and allocate to the community colleges the same amount for base operating as received in Fiscal Year 2011. If there is an increase or decrease the change would be passed to all of the community colleges equally. The current suggestion is to put the formula on hold and form a committee to explore the current effects of the economy on the formula, the situation that the colleges are facing due to untimely payments, and the effect of performance-based funding on the formula.

Ms. Andres suggested that the committee consist of individuals from the official ICCB advisory organizations.

Tom Pulver made a motion, which was seconded by James Dumas, to approve the following motion:

The Illinois Community College Board directs staff to work with the General Assembly and the Governor's Office of Management and Budget to suspend the base operating grants formula for Fiscal Year 2012, and allocate level funding to the districts or allocate an increase or decrease based on the appropriation in the line. Furthermore, the Board directs staff to work with representatives of the system to review the formula concerning effects of the current economy and other changes in higher education funding.

The motion was approved via voice vote and none opposed. Student member vote: Yea.

Item #9.2 - Academic Affairs and Workforce Development

Tom Pulver reported that he was voted chair of the committee and reported that the committee was updated on the following items:

Common Core College Readiness Standards — The ICCB, Illinois Board of Higher Education (IBHE) and Illinois State Board of Education (ISBE) will host eight regional workshops focused on the Common Core College Readiness Standards and curriculum alignment throughout the state. The workshops will be the first event in a series of higher education efforts to inform the field on the college readiness standards and to assist the field on the difficult endeavor of curriculum alignment. Target areas for the workshops include Math, English, and Language Arts faculty from high schools, community colleges, and universities; and others are invited to attend as well. The outcome of the workshops is the initiation of the regional college and career readiness action planning that could ultimately serve as a model for statewide reform. The workshops will be held at eight community colleges throughout the state with no expenses for the colleges and the Education Policy Improvement Center (EPIC) is assisting and facilitating the one-day workshops.

Complete College America (CCA) - A 10-member team from IL including Lieutenant. Governor Shelia Simon and Dr. Elaine Johnson attended a three-day academy to discuss policies and programs to increase the number of students with a college degree or credential. Illinois is a CCA alliance member state and was joined by six other member states on March 4-6. Experts spoke on performance funding, transforming remediation, shortening time to degree, and making structure changes to accelerate student success. The Illinois team focused on strategies for improving student success and completion. The team will be developing action steps and expanding the conversation to include all higher education stakeholders in the plan to increase from the current 41 percent of Illinoisans (ages 25-64) with a college degree or certificate to 60 percent by 2025.

Illinois informed CCA that it will apply for the possible one million dollars the state could be allocated. The Illinois team will reconvene and the proposal will be written with all sectors of education represented.

Business and Industry - VM Ware/Serena is offering industry credentials through the Business and Industry Centers through a short-term training program. Students successfully complete a five-week class training program which guarantees a six month internship with their company at \$20.00 an hour, with the possibility of permanent

employment after the six internship. This program will be offered at Heartland Community College, Moraine Valley Community College and College of DuPage. The hope is to have 250 people trained in Illinois in the next six months

<u>Item #9.4 – External Affairs</u>

Jake Rendleman reported that he will serve a chair for the committee and provided an update on the following items:

House Bill 1864 - The legislation concerns changing the stipulation that all colleges receiving Equalization be within 85 percent of the statewide average for tuition and universal fees. The bill proposes lowering that stipulation to 70 percent and adding as an alternative stipulation that a college's tuition and universal fees be at least 30 percent of its total revenue. The legislation failed in Spring 2012, but the sponsorship was changed to freshman representative Camille Lilly from Chicago. The bill passed the House with a 95-12-1 vote on March 10 and Senator Edward Maloney is sponsoring the bill for the ICCB in the Senate. The bill arrived in the Senate this week and has been referred to the Assignments Committee.

House Bill 304 – This bill was not initiated by ICCB, but are putting support behind it. The legislation proposes to suspend the statutory requirement for community colleges to keep their tuitions capped at one-third of their per capita costs. This is affecting many colleges that are very close to exceeding the cap. The bill was heard in the House Higher Education Committee on March 16 and Ellen Andres testified with Representative Tracy to explain the rationale for the legislation. The bill passed out of committee with an 8-3 vote and is currently on its second reading in the House.

The committee also discussed Senate Bill 59 and has filed as proponents of House Bill 166 (concerning a new Green Jobs and Technology Act), House Bill 3361 and Senate Bill 1826 (both propose for the Office of the Comptroller to create a new supplemental deferral plan to enhance retirement income for K-12 and community college employees).

The ICCB will continue to monitor legislation that may affect the ICCB and the community colleges' interests and programs. The House nor the Senate are in session next week and both chambers return on Tuesday, March 29.

The committee discussed the need for and the scope of work of ICCB contract lobbyists. The committee supports sending out Requests for Proposals (RFP) for future contracts. Upon staff review and recommendation, the final RFPs will be submitted to the External Affairs Committee for approval and voting on by the Board at its June meeting.

The spring issue of the ICCB Magazine will be distributed the week of March 21. The ICCB has responded to several requests from the Governor's Office of Citizens Assistance to help explain or resolve issues that individuals have had regarding community colleges Recently, there was a Freedom of Information Act request from AFSCME for a list of ICCB employees' names, job titles, and counties of work.

Chairman Alongi asked Mr. Rendleman if the ICCB had filed a papers regarding Senate Bill 59, whether neutral, opposed, or for it.

Mr. Rendleman asked Steve Morse to address the question.

Mr. Morse stated that based on information that he had at the time he filed in support of the bill. It was Mr. Morse's understanding that the bill was probably not going to go

anywhere and he thought he had Board approval to file in support. Not with the understanding that the amendment that is currently on the bill will be the final amendment and if there is another amendment it will certainly go back to committee, at which time we can go neutral, opposed, or not say anything at all about it.

Chairman Alongi asked if the bill came to the floor how does it feel about coming out neutral on the bill.

Victor Henderson stated that he thought the consensus was that until the staff completes their work the Board would be neutral.

Chairman Alongi stated that if the bill goes to the floor, Mr. Morse is instructed to file papers that the Board is neutral.

<u>Item #9.5 – Adult Education and Institutional Support</u>

James Dumas reported that he was voted chair of the committee and provided an update on the following items:

ABE to Credentials State Design Grant - ICCB staff were notified last week that we submitted a winning design proposal for the ABE to Credentials: A Breaking Through Initiative. The initial award of \$200,000 for the period of March 7-November 15, 2011 is for planning and design, with an implementation award of \$1.6 million following for a 3-year period. Staff is excited about the opportunity to work with the funders, Jobs for the Future, The Gates Foundation, and The Joyce Foundation to develop a detailed implementation work plan that supports the re-design of adult education and post-secondary systems and programs to integrate basic skills and occupational training and facilitate credential attainment. The 30 plus members on the design team include Tom Pulver, representing the ICCB and faculty. During the implementation phase, we will provide funding to 8 colleges for the new adult education model. A media campaign to announce the nine states who were given awards and to launch the initiative will occur in early May, 2011, and is coordinated by the funders.

The Strategic Plan for Adult Education is progressing and the staff continues to develop ways in which to implement the recommendation. Currently, staff is working to align with the Common Core Standards and College and Career Readiness Standards, developing a statewide Health Care and Manufacturing Curriculum for Adult Education, and continuing to develop specific training for bridge programs development designed to help students make the connection with postsecondary occupational programs and pathway employment.

The Adult Education Advisory Council continues to work on curriculum and instruction, assessments, and data and research alignments. In addition, the Adult Education ad hoc committee continue to examine issues relative to students support services and instructional technology, as well as marketing.

The committee discussed the issues regarding adult education performance, completion, and the need for remediation. The committee agreed that adult education and special population momentum points were essential to the development of a formula for performance-based funding.

The American Council of Education, who owns GED testing, has merged with Pearson View to provide computer-based testing by 2013. This merger could eliminate the need

for states to administer the GED test and would make the GED testing service a for-profit entity rather than a not-for-profit. Dr. Karen Hunter Anderson and Jennifer Foster will monitor this issue.

Karen and Jennifer also mentioned that the upcoming Adult Education Administrators' Meeting in April will include the Undersecretary of Education, Dr. Brenda Dann-Messier.

Nathan Wilson, Director for Research and Policy Studies informed the committee about Illinois Community College System Hispanic and African American Employment Surveys. This is the first time that ICCB has participated in these surveys for the system, which includes reporting on the bilingual needs of our students and the strategies used to employ and promote minority employees in the system. Previously, ICCB addressed these issues through the Underrepresented Groups Report.

Dr. Anderson also updated the committee about the Illinois Higher Education Consortium (IHEC). ICCB has been asked to sign the agreement to be part of the IHEC. The committee was presented alternative agreements that ICCB staff have suggested.

Committee members encouraged staff to get a more equitable share of the representation on the higher education data sharing, to ensure security of our data, and to continue negotiation to get an agreement in place that it best for our students.

Item #10 - New Units of Instruction

Jake Rendleman made a motion, which was seconded by Tom Pulver, to approve the following motion:

The Illinois Community College Board hereby approves the following new units of instruction for the community colleges listed below:

PERMANENT PROGRAM APPROVAL

Frontier Community College

- ➤ Health Informatics A.A.S. degree (65 credit hours)
- ➤ Health Informatics Technician Certificate (50 credit hours)
- ➤ Medical Coding Specialist Certificate (38 credit hours)
- ➤ Medical Quality Technician Certificate (30 credit hours)

Highland Community College

> Equine Science A.A.S. degree (65 credit hours)

Illinois Eastern Community Colleges: Frontier Community College, Lincoln Trail College, Olney Central College, and Wabash Valley College

Associate in Engineering Science (A.E.S.) degree (62 credit hours)

Moraine Valley Community College

➤ Mechatronics Technology A.A.S. degree (63 credit hours)

James Dumas noted that he looked at the Health Information A.A.S. degree and also that certificate and there is 15 hours difference between an associate applied science degree and the certificate and that seems like an awful lot of hours for a certificate.

Dr. Elaine Johnson replied that the reason the certificate is 50 hours is because that is what is required for certification. The 15 hours difference is just the General Education Core. The college could have just done the certificate to give the credentials, but they also created an Associate Degree that requires 15 hours of general education.

Jake Rendleman asked why at Illinois Eastern Community Colleges they have four campuses and this Associate of Engineering in Science (A.E.S.) degree, how are they going to do this, at all four colleges or how are they going to do that.

Dr. Johnson stated that it was approved for all four and if there is a need for that degree at an institution, it will be offered.

Motion was approved via unanimous voice vote. None opposed. Student member vote: Yea.

Item #11 - Consent Agenda

Austin Ashby made a motion, which was seconded by James Dumas, to approve the following motions:

Item #11.1 - Minutes of the January 28, 2011 Board meeting

The Illinois Community College Board hereby approves the Board minutes of the January 28, 2011, meeting as recorded.

Item #11.2 - Minutes of the January 28, 2011 Executive Session

The Illinois Community College Board hereby approves the minutes of the January 28, 2011, Executive Session as recorded.

The motion was approved via voice vote. None opposed. Student member vote: Yea.

<u>Item #12 – Information Items</u>

The following items were presented to the Board for review.

Item #12.1 - Fiscal Year 2011 Financial Statements

<u>Item #12.2 - Summary of Capital projects Approved ny the President/CEO during Calendar Year 2010</u>

<u>Item #12.3 – Fiscal Year 2011 Spring Enrollments in the Illinois Community College</u> System

<u>Item #12.4 - Illinois Community College System Program Review Statewide</u> Summary

<u>Item #12.5 - Illinois Community College System African American Employment</u> Plan Survey Results - Fiscal Year 2010 and the Illinois Community

College System Hispanic Employment Plan Survey Results – Fiscal Year 2010

Item #14 – Other Business

No other business was brought before the Board at this time.

Item #13 - Executive Session

Tom Pulver made a motion, which was seconded by James Dumas, to approve the following motion:

To enter Executive Session for the purpose of discussing personnel matters which qualifies as an acceptable exception under Section 2(c) of the Open Meetings Act to hold a closed session. A roll call vote was taken, with the following results:

Guy Alongi	Yea	Rudolph Papa	Yea
Suzanne Morris	Absent	Thomas Pulver	Yea
Randy Barnette	Yea	Judith Rake	Absent
James Dumas	Yea	Jake Rendleman	Yea
Victor Henderson	Yea	Austin Ashby	Yea

The motion was approved and the Board entered Executive Session at 1:15 p.m.

Jake Rendleman made a motion, which was seconded by Tom Pulver, to reconvene into Public Session at 1:54 p.m.

The motion was approved via voice vote. None opposed. Student member vote: Yea.

There was no action taken as a result of Executive Session.

Item #16 - Adjournment

Rudolph Papa made a motion, which was seconded by Victor Henderson, to adjourn the Board meeting at 2:02 p.m.

The motion was approved via voice vote. None opposed. Student member vote: Yea.

Guy H. Alongi

Chair

President President

and

CEO